
1 of 2 

 

EDGERTON CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING AGENDA 

CITY HALL, 404 EAST NELSON STREET 
September 22, 2016 

 
Call to Order 
1. Roll Call ___ Roberts___Longanecker ___Crooks ___Troutner ___ Brown ___ Crist 
2. Welcome 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
Consent Agenda (Consent Agenda items will be acted upon by one motion unless a Council 
member requests an item be removed for discussion and separate action)  
4. Agenda Approval 
5. Approve City Council Meeting Minutes September 8, 2016 
 
Regular Agenda 
6. Public Comments. Persons who wish to address the City Council regarding items not on 

the agenda and that are under the jurisdiction of the City Council may do so when called 
upon by the Mayor. Comments on personnel matters and matters pending before court or 
other outside tribunals are not permitted. Please notify the City Clerk before the meeting if 
you wish to speak. Speakers are limited to three (3) minutes. Any presentation is for 
informational purposes only. No action will be taken. 
 

7. Declaration. At this time Council members may declare any conflict or communication they 
have had that might influence their ability to impartially consider today’s issues. 

 
Business Requiring Action 
8. CONSIDER ORDINANCE NO. 1035 AMENDING CHAPTER II OF THE EDGERTON, 

KANSAS MUNICIPAL CODE TO INCLUDE NEW ARTICLE 2 REGULATING THE 
KEEPING OF BEEHIVES WITHIN THE CITY 

 
Motion: ____________ Second: ___________ Vote: ____________ 

 
9. CONSIDER ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, TO 

ISSUE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (ELHC XIV, LLC PROJECT) SERIES 2016, IN 
AN AGGREGATE MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO EXCEED $25,000,000, 
FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FUNDS TO PAY THE REMAINING COST OF A 
WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITY, INCLUDING LAND, BUILDINGS, 
STRUCTURES, IMPROVEMENTS, FIXTURES, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST 
INDENTURE; AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL 
BASE LEASE AGREEMENT AND A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT; 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A BOND PURCHASE AGREEMENT, AND 
AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE EXECUTION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND 
THE TAKING OF OTHER ACTIONS IN CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE 
BONDS 

 
Motion: ____________ Second: ___________ Vote: ____________ 



2 of 2 

 

 
10. Report by the City Administrator 

o LKM Annual Conference Voting Delegate 
o 2017 CDBG Recommendations – Nelson Street Waterline Replacement 
o Report on exploration of options to provide economic development services to 

City for 2017 
o Joint Work Session with Planning Commission rescheduled 

 
11. Report by the Mayor 

 
12. Future Meeting/Event Reminders: 

 September 24th 10 AM – Noon – Cops N’ Bobbers Fishing Derby 
 October 11th 7:00 PM – Planning Commission 
 October 13th 7:00 PM – City Council meeting 
 October 19th Noon – Senior Lunch 
 October 27th 7:00 PM – City Council Meeting 

 October 30th 4:00 PM – Halloween Fest 
 

13. CONSIDER RECESSING INTO EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO K.S.A. 75-4319 
(b) (6) FOR PRELIMINARY DISCUSSION RELATED TO ACQUISITION OF REAL 
PROPERTY TO INCLUDE CITY ATTORNEY AND CITY ADMINISTRATOR 

 
Motion: ____________ Second: ___________ Vote: ____________ 

 
RECONVENE INTO OPEN SESSION 

 
14. Adjourn Motion: ________ Second: ________ Vote: ______ 



City of Edgerton Regular Session Minutes 
September 8, 2016 

Page 1 

City of Edgerton, Kansas 
Minutes of City Council Regular Session 

September 8, 2016 
 
 A Regular Session of the City Council was held in the Edgerton City Hall, 404 E. Nelson, Edgerton, 

Kansas on September 8, 2016.  The meeting convened at 7:00 p.m. with Mayor Roberts presiding, 
and City Clerk Janeice L. Rawles recording. 

 
1. ROLL CALL 

Charlie Troutner  present 
Clay Longanecker  present 
Cindy Crooks  present 
Jody Brown  present 
Darius Crist  present 
 
With a quorum present, the meeting commenced. 

 
Staff in attendance:  City Administrator Beth Linn 
    City Attorney Patrick Reavey 
    Public Works Superintendent Trey Whitaker 
    Jeff White, Columbia Capital 
    Scott Anderson, SA Legal Advisors 
                  

2.  WELCOME  
         
3.  PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
  
 CONSENT AGENDA  
 
4.  The agenda for September 8, 2016 was considered. 
5. City Council meeting Minutes of August 25, 2016 was considered. 
6.    Ordinance No. 1031 Amending Chapter XI, Article 1, Section 11-101 of The Code of The City of 

Edgerton, Kansas, concerning The Uniform Public Offense Code was considered. 
7. Ordinance No. 1032 amending Chapter XIV of The Edgerton, Kansas Municipal Code to Incorporate 

The 2016 Standard Traffic Ordinance, subject to existing local traffic provisions in The City Code 
which Supplement  and/or modify certain sections thereof was considered. 

 
 Motion by Crooks, seconded by Crist, to approve Consent Agenda. 
 
 Motion was approved 5-0. 
 
8. PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 None 
 
 
 



City of Edgerton Regular Session Minutes 
September 8, 2016 

Page 2 
9. DECLARATION 
 
 None 
 
BUSINESS REQUIRING ACTION 
 
 ORDINANCE NO 1033 - G.O. BONDS SERIES 2016-B 
10. ORDINANCE NO 1033 AUTHORIZING AND PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF GENERAL 

OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2016-B, OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS; PROVIDING FOR THE 
LEVY AND COLLECTION OF AN ANNUAL TAX FOR THE PURPOSE OF PAYING THE PRINCIPAL OF AND 
INTEREST ON SAID BONDS AS THEY BECOME DUE; AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS 
AND ACTIONS IN CONNECTION THEREWITH; AND MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS WITH RESPECT 
THERETO WAS CONSIDERED. 

 
 City Administrator Beth Linn and Gina Riekhof, bond counsel Gilmore & Bell, indicated the two items 

on tonight’s agenda were considered and approved on August 25, but noted due to publication 
issues, the matter would need to be reconsidered.  It was noted the issue is scheduled for closing on 
September 22, 2016.  Ms. Riekhof informed the Council that her firm would cover any additional 
costs. 

 
 It was noted the ordinance would authorize General Obligation Bonds, Series 2016-B and also repeal 

the ordinance approved on August 25, 2016. 
 
 Motion by Longanecker, seconded by Brown, to approve Ordinance No. 1033 authorizing and 

providing for the issuance of General Obligation Bonds, Series 2016-B.   
 
 Motion was approved, 5-0. 
  
 RESOLUTION NO 09-08-16A- SALE G.O. BONDS 
11. RESOLUTION NO 09-08-16A PRESCRIBING THE FORM AND DETAILS OF AND AUTHORIZING AND 

DIRECTING THE SALE AND DELIVERY OF GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS, SERIES 2016-B, OF THE 
CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, PREVIOUSLY AUTHORIZED BY ORDINANCE NO 1033 OF THE ISSUER; 
MAKING CERTAIN COVENANTS AND AGREEMENTS TO PROVIDE FOR THE PAYMENT ANDSECURITY 
THEREOF; AND AUTHORIZING CERTAIN OTHER DOCUMENTS AND ACTIONS CONNECTED 
THEREWITH WAS CONSIDERED. 

 
 Ms. Linn and Ms. Riekhof indicated this matter accompanies the previous action. 
 
 Motion by Crooks, seconded by Longanecker, to approve Resolution No. 09-08-2016 prescribing the 

form and details and authorizing and directing the sale and delivery of General Obligation Bonds, 
Series 2016-B. 

 
 Motion was approved, 5-0. 
 
 
 
 



City of Edgerton Regular Session Minutes 
September 8, 2016 

Page 3 
 PUBLIC HEARING – INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS 
 RESOLUTION NO. 09-08-16B – CONSENTING TO PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT 
12. OPENING OF A PUBLIC HEARING REGARDING AND CONSIDERATION OF RESOLUTION NO. 09-08-

16B CONSENTING TO THE PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF A RESOLUTION OF INTENT FROM EDGERTON 
LAND HOLDING COMPANY, LLC TO ELHC XIV, LLC OR ITS SUCCESSORS IN INTEREST WAS 
CONSIDERED.  

 
 Scott Anderson, SA Legal Advisors, overviewed the cost benefit analysis report.  It was noted that 

due to the delay in receiving this report, the matter was continued from August 25, 2016. 
 
 Mayor Roberts opened the public hearing. 
 
 No one appeared to support or oppose. 
 
 The public hearing was closed. 
 
 The Council was informed  the public hearing notice was published at least seven (7) days prior to 

the hearing, and that the  Board of County Commissioners and the School Board received 
notification previous to the seven days, as required under state law.  It was noted the City received 
comments from the School District representatives. 

 
Motion by Crooks, seconded by Longanecker, to approve Resolution No. 09-08-16B consenting to 
the partial assignment of the Resolution of Intent from Edgerton Land Holding Company, LLC to 
ELHC XIV, LLC, or its successors. 
 
Motion was approved, 5-0. 

 
 ORDINANCE NO 1034—ACQUISITION O F EASEMENTS 
13. ORDINANCE NO 1034 APPROVING THE DESCRIPTION AND SURVEY OF LANDS NECESSARY FOR 

ACQUISITION OF EASEMENTS NEEDED FOR EXPANSION OF THE CITY’S SANITARY SEWER 
COLLECTION SYSTEM AND ASSOCIATED IMPROVEMENTS WAS CONSIDERED.   

 
 Ms. Linn informed the Council the ordinance was prepared by the City Attorney. 
 
 Motion by Brown, seconded by Longanecker, to approve Ordinance No. 1034 approving description 

and survey of lands necessary for acquisition of easements needed for expansion of the city’s 
sanitary sewer collection system and associated improvements. 

 
 Motion was approved, 5-0. 
 
14. REPORT BY THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR  
 
 Ms. Linn spoke about the Mike & Johnnies Annual “Adopt the Children Charity Clay Shoot” on 

September 24, 2016.  It was noted the City’s donation allows for four participants.  Councilmember 
Brown indicated he would attend.   

 



City of Edgerton Regular Session Minutes 
September 8, 2016 

Page 4 
 The City Administrator reminded the Council of the upcoming League of Kansas Municipalities 

Conference at Overland Park Convention Center.  She indicated that at the September 22 meeting, 
the delegate would need to be named. 

 
 Ms. Linn spoke about the monument signage at Amazon.  She noted a discussion regarding the 

monument sign would be discussed at the joint meeting with the Planning Commission. 
 
 Mayor Roberts informed the Council, the Planning Commission approved the use of storage 

containers for buildings.  Mr. Brown indicated it was for JB Hunt.  Mayor Roberts opposed this use.  
The City Attorney indicated the City would need to amend the city code to not allow the use of 
shipping containers as construction material within the City.  The consensus of the Council was to 
look into this. 

 
 Earlier in the year the council had agreed to contract with the Gardner Edgerton Chamber of 

Commerce and the Southwest Johnson County Economic Development Corporation for a total price 
of $50,000.  The City of Edgerton is now exploring the idea of out sourcing or perhaps having their 
own Economic Development Department.  Mayor Roberts and City Council have agreed that they 
would like more information on this subject.   

 
15. REPORT BY THE MAYOR 
  
 None 
 
16. FUTURE MEETING/EVENT REMINDERS 
 

 September 13th 7:00 pm – Planning Commission with Joint Work Session Immediately 
 following City Council/Planning Commission. 

 September 17th 10:00 am until Noon – Food Pantry- Methodist Church 
 September 20th 5:30-7:30 – Parks Master Plan Open House 
 September 21st Noon – Senior Lunch 
 September 22nd 7:00 pm – City Council Meeting 

 
  
23. ADJOURN 
 
 Motion by Crooks, seconded by Troutner, to adjourn the meeting. 
 
 Motion was approved, 5-0. 
 
 The meeting adjourned at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 
_______________________________________________ 
Janeice L. Rawles, CMC 
City Clerk 
 
 



City of Edgerton Regular Session Minutes 
September 8, 2016 

Page 5 
Approved by the Governing Body on 

 



AGENDA ITEM INFORMATION FORM 
 

Agenda Item:  Consider Ordinance No. 1035 Amending Chapter II Of The Edgerton, Kansas Municipal 

Code To Include New Article 2 Regulating The Keeping Of Beehives Within The City  

 

Department:  Community Development 

  

Background/Description of Item: During a City Council meeting, Council Member Troutner requested 
that beekeeping within the city limits be added to a future council meeting agenda. City Council directed 
staff to research industry standards, any relevant state statutes, best practices from other communities, 
etc. Staff brought the research initially to the June 23rd City Council meeting. City Council tabled the 
discussion regarding beekeeping within the city limits to the July 14, 2016 City Council meeting to allow 
council members further time to review materials provided.  
 
At the June meeting, staff arranged to have members of the Northeastern Kansas Beekeepers Association 
(NEKBA) present to serve as experts with regard to beekeeping and answer questions from City Council. 
At that meeting, the representatives from NEKBA distributed the regulations regarding bees from the City 
of Lawrence and the City of Overland Park. Those regulations are included in this packet.  For more 
information about NEKBA, please see their website at http://www.nekba.org/. 
 
At the July 14th City Council meeting, City Council directed staff to work with City Attorney to draft an 
ordinance regulating the keeping of bees within the city limits. Please find enclosed a draft ordinance with 
the following requirements. 
 
ANNUAL PERMIT  

 Annual permit is required 
 To apply for permit must submit:  

-- Application Form 
-- Diagram of the applicant’s property lines 
-- Location/materials of the proposed Beehive(s) and Flyaway Barrier. Flyaway Barrier defined as a 
   solid wall or fence built, or dense hedge grown, to a height of six feet and within 10 feet of the 
   property line, and which faces the front of the Beehive where the Bees enter and leave the Beehive. 
-- Measurements showing the distances between each of these.  
-- Copies of notifications (completed application form with required diagram) and proof of mailing (all 

      owners of property within 300 feet) that they have 14 days from receipt to provide the City Clerk 
      with a written objection, identifying themselves, and indicating why they object to the application. 

 
REQUIREMENTS FOR WATER AND IDENTIFICATION 
 Required to provide fresh, clean, watering facilities for the Bees within 25 feet of each Beehive 
 Required to signage on each Beehive to prominently display the name, address, and phone number of 

the owner of the Beehive.  
 
APPROVAL 
 For one beehive: If all application requirements have been met and no written objection is received, 

the City Clerk is authorized to approve the application and issue the Beehive permit.  
 For more than one beehive and/or written objection to an application is received, then the application 

will be considered and decided by the Governing Body. Governing Body is authorized to place any 
conditions it believes are appropriate on approval of the application.  

http://www.nekba.org/


ITEMS NEED COUNCIL DIRECTION 

 Number of Beehives: The draft ordinance leaves a blank for the number of beehives permitted on 
residential property (defined as less than 3 acres) and nonresidential property (defined as more than 
3 acres). Other cities seem to have 1-2 hives for under ½ acre; 3-5 hives more than ½ acre. 

 Permit Fee: The draft ordinance references the Fee Resolution. Once City Council provides direction 
on the permit fee, staff will bring the Fee Resolution to the first council meeting in October. Other 
cities range from $10-25 annually.  

 
Also enclosed with this packet is information previously included in June 23rd City Council packet including 
a recent article from the League of Kansas Municipalities magazine and a model ordinance from the state 
of Louisiana.  
 
Enclosure: Draft Ordinance No. 1035 
 Regulations from City of Lawrence and City of Overland Park 
 League of Kansas Municipalities article regarding Municipal Regulations on beekeeping 

 Model Beekeeping Ordinance from Louisiana 

 

Related Ordinance(s) or Statute(s):   

 

Recommendation:   

 

Funding Source: N/A 

 
Prepared by:  Beth Linn, City Administrator   
Date: September 22, 2016 



1 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 1035 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER II OF THE EDGERTON, 
KANSAS MUNICIPAL CODE TO INCLUDE NEW ARTICLE 2 
REGULATING THE KEEPING OF BEEHIVES WITHIN THE CITY 
 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING 
BODY OF THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS: 
 
 SECTION 1: Chapter II of the Edgerton, Kansas Municipal Code is hereby 
amended to include new Article 2, which shall read as follows: 
 

ARTICLE 2.  BEEHIVES 
 
2-201. DEFINITIONS.  For the purpose of this chapter, the following words shall have 

the following meanings. 
 
(a) Beehive means any container placed or maintained by a resident which is used 

for housing bees, and in which any bees are found.  
(b) Bees means any insect of the family Apidae. 
(c) Flyaway Barrier means a solid wall or fence built, or dense hedge grown, to a 

height of six feet and within 10 feet of the property line, and which faces the 
front of the Beehive where the Bees enter and leave the Beehive. 

(c) Nonresidential Property means premises having a land area of three acres or 
more. 

(d) Residential Property means premises with less than three acres of land. 
 

2-202. LEGISLATIVE FINDINGS. The Governing Body of the City of Edgerton, 
Kansas, finds that there is a need to regulate and set minimum standards for the 
keeping of bees within the corporate limits of the City to protect the public 
health, safety, and welfare of the residents of Edgerton. 

 
2-203. ANNUAL PERMIT REQUIRED. It shall be unlawful for any person to 

place, establish, or maintain any Beehive upon any premises within the corporate 
limits of the City unless and until an annual permit has been approved by the 
City, and the Beehive is kept in accordance with the provisions of this Article. 

 
2-204. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS; PROCEDURE. (a) Before an 

application for a Beehive permit will be considered by the City, the applicant 
must submit the following: 

(1) A completed application form (maintained in the City Clerk’s 
office), and a diagram of the applicant’s property lines, the 



2 

 

location and materials of the proposed Beehive(s) and Flyaway 
Barrier, and measurements showing the distances between each 
of these. 

(2) If applicable, the Permit Fee provided for in the City Fee 
Resolution.   

(3) Copies of notifications (which should include the completed 
application form and diagram required by Subsection (a)(1) 
above), and proof of mailing, sent to all owners of property 
within 300 feet of the applicant’s property, notifying said owners 
that they have 14 days from receipt of their notification to 
provide the City Clerk with a written objection, identifying 
themselves, and indicating why they object to the application. 
 

(b) If all application requirements have been met, the application is for one 
Beehive, and no written objection is received by the City Clerk, the City Clerk is 
authorized to approve the application and issue the Beehive permit. If the application is 
for more than one Beehive and/or a written objection to an application is received by the 
City Clerk, then the application will be considered and decided by the Governing Body 
and, in so deciding, the Governing Body is authorized to place any conditions it believes 
are appropriate on approval of the application.  
 
2-205. NUMBER OF BEEHIVES. No more than ____ Beehives shall be allowed 
on any Residential Property, and no more than ____ Beehives shall be allowed on any 
Nonresidential Property.  
 
2-206. WATER AND IDENTIFICATION SIGNAGE PROVIDED. (a) Fresh, 
clean, watering facilities for the Bees shall be provided within 25 feet of each Beehive. 
(b) Each Beehive shall prominently display the name, address, and phone number of the 
owner of the Beehive.  
 
2-207. VIOLATIONS AND PENALTY. The violation of any provision of this 
Article is a public offense and any person convicted thereof shall be punished as provided 
in Section 1-112 of Article 1 of Chapter I of the Edgerton, Kansas Municipal Code. Each 
day that any violation of this Article shall continue shall constitute a separate offense.  

 
 SECTION 2:  Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall be effective after its passage, 
approval and publication once in the City’s official paper.  
 
 ADOPTED BY THE GOVERNING BODY AND APPROVED BY THE 
MAYOR OF EDGERTON, KANSAS ON THE ______ DAY OF SEPTEMBER, 
2016. 
 
     



3 

 

     ____________________________________ 
     Donald Roberts, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Janeice Rawles, City Clerk 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Patrick G. Reavey, City Attorney  
 





























Model 
Beekeeping 
Ordinance 
for Louisiana Local and 
Municipal Governments

This publication is intended to help local 
and municipal governments address potential 
concerns or problems between the public 
and beekeepers. It was adopted from the 
Texas beekeeping ordinance and modified 
by the Louisiana Beekeepers Association, the 
Louisiana Department of Agriculture and 
Forestry (LDAF), the USDA/ARS Honey Bee 
Breeding Genetic and Physiology Lab and the 
Louisiana Cooperative Extension Service. 
Because the honeybee industry is vital to 
Louisiana agriculture, the four organizations 
are willing to assist any local, municipal state 
government in the use or implementation of 
this program.



Proposed Model Beekeeping Ordinance 
for Louisiana Local and Municipal Governments

Whereas, honeybees are of benefit to mankind, and to Louisiana in particular, by providing agriculture, 
fruit and garden pollination services and by furnishing honey, wax and other useful products; and

Whereas, Louisiana is among the leading states in honey production and agricultural byproducts 
associated with beekeeping throughout the United States; and

Whereas, domestic strains of honeybees have been selectively bred for desirable traits, including 
gentleness, honey production, tendency not to swarm and nonaggressive behavior, characteristics that are 
desirable to foster and maintain; and 

Whereas, gentle strains of honeybees can be maintained within populated areas in reasonable densities 
without causing a nuisance if the bees are properly located and carefully managed and maintained;

Now, Therefore, Be It Ordained and Enacted By 

____________________________________________________________________
(Insert name of governmental entity)

Section 1.  That the findings contained in the preamble of this ordinance are hereby adopted as a part of this 
ordinance.

Section 2.  That Chapter No.    ________________ (Health) of the Code of Ordinances, 

__________________________________ (city), _______________________ (state),   is hereby 

amended by adding a new article No., which reads as follows:

Definitions
As used in this article, the following words and terms 

shall have the meanings ascribed in this section unless the 
context of their usage clearly indicates another meaning:
1.  “Apiary” means the assembly of one or more 

colonies of bees at a single location.
2.  “Beekeeper” means a person who owns or has 

charge of one or more colonies of bees.
3.  “Beekeeping equipment” means anything used in the 

operation of an apiary, such as hive bodies, supers, 
frames, top and bottom boards and extractors.

4.  “Colony” or “hive” means an aggregate of bees 
consisting principally of workers, but having, when 
perfect, one queen and at times many drones, 
including brood, combs, honey and the receptacle 
inhabited by the bees.

5.  “Honeybee” means all life stages of the common 
domestic honey bee, Apis mellifera species.

6.  “Tract” means a contiguous parcel of land under 
common ownership.

7.  “Undeveloped property” means any idle land that 
is not improved or actually in the process of being 
improved with residential, commercial, industrial, 

church, park, school or governmental facilities or 
other structures or improvements intended for 
human use occupancy and the grounds maintained in 
association therewith. The term shall be deemed to 
include property developed exclusively as a street or 
highway or property used for commercial agricultural 
purposes.

Certain Conduct 
Declared Unlawful
(a)  The purpose of this article is to establish certain 

requirements of sound beekeeping practice that are 
intended to avoid problems that may otherwise be 
associated with the keeping of bees in populated 
areas.

(b)  Notwithstanding compliance with the various 
requirements of this article, it shall be unlawful for 
any beekeeper to keep any colony or colonies in 
such a manner or of such disposition as to cause any 
unhealthy condition, interfere with the normal use 
and enjoyment of human or animal life of others or 
interfere with the normal use and enjoyment of any 
public property or property of others.



Hive Registration 
All honey bee colonies shall be registered annually 

with the Louisiana Department of Agriculture and 
Forestry. IT IS THE LAW!

Hive Type 
All honey bee colonies shall be kept in Langstroth-

type hives with removable frames, which shall be kept in 
sound and usable condition.

Fencing of Flyways
In each instance in which any colony is situated 

within 25 feet of a public or private property line of the 
tract upon which the apiary is situated, as measured from 
the nearest point on the hive to the property line, the 
beekeeper shall establish and maintain a flyway barrier at 
least 6 feet in height consisting of a solid wall, fence, dense 
vegetation or combination thereof that is parallel to the 
property line and extends 10 feet beyond the colony 
in each direction so that all bees are forced to fly at an 
elevation of at least 6 feet above ground level over the 
property lines in the vicinity of the apiary. It is a defense 
against prosecution under this section that the property 
adjoining the apiary tract in the vicinity of the apiary is 
undeveloped property for a distance of at least 25 feet 
from the property line of the apiary tract.

Water
Each beekeeper shall ensure that a convenient 

source of water is available to the bees at all times during 
the year so that the bees will not congregate at swimming 
pools, bibcocks, pet watering bowls, bird baths or other 
water sources where they may cause human, bird or 
domestic pet contact.

General Maintenance
Each beekeeper shall ensure that no bee comb 

or other materials that might encourage robbing are 
left upon the grounds of the apiary site. Upon their 
removal from the hive, all such materials shall promptly 
be disposed of in a sealed container or placed within a 
building or other bee-proof enclosure.

Queens
All colonies shall be maintained with marked 

queens. In any instance in which a colony exhibits unusual 
aggressive characteristics by stinging or attempting to 
sting without due provocation or exhibits an unusual 
disposition toward swarming, it shall be the duty of 
the beekeeper to promptly re-queen the colony with 

another marked queen. Queens shall be selected from 
European stock bred for gentleness and nonswarming 
characteristics.

Colony Densities
(a) It shall be unlawful to keep more than the following 

number of colonies on any tract within the city, based 
upon the size or configuration of the tract on which 
the apiary is situated:
1.  One-quarter acre or less tract size – two colonies. 
2.  More than one-quarter acre but less than one-half 

acre tract size – four colonies. 
3.  More than one-half acre but less than 1 acre tract 

size – six colonies. 
4.  One acre or larger tract size – eight colonies. 
5.  Regardless of tract size, where all hives are 

situated at least 200 feet in any direction from all 
property lines of the tract on which the apiary is 
situated, there shall be no limit to the number of 
colonies.

6.  Regardless of tract size, so long as all property 
other than the tract upon which the hives are 
situated – that is, within a radius of at least 
200 feet from any hive – remains undeveloped 
property, there shall be no limit to the number of 
colonies. 

(b)  For each two colonies authorized under Colony 
Densities [subsection (a)] there may be maintained 
upon the same tract one nucleus colony in a hive 
structure not exceeding one standard 9 5/8 inch 
depth 10-frame hive body with no supers attached 
as required from time to time for management of 
swarms. Each such nucleus colony shall be disposed 
of or combined with an authorized colony within 30 
days after the date is acquired.

Marking Hives, 
Presumption of Beekeeping 
(a)  In apiaries the beekeeper shall conspicuously post a 

sign setting forth his name and telephone number. In 
addition, the beekeeper’s registration yard marker, 
provided by the LDAF, shall be posted on a sign 
within the apiary. It is a defense against prosecution 
under this subsection that a colony is kept upon the 
same tract upon which the owner resides.

(b)  Unless marked in accordance with subsection (a) it 
shall be presumed for purposes of this article that 
the beekeeper is the person or persons who own 
or otherwise have the present right of possession 
and control of the tract upon which a hive or hives 
are situated. The presumption may be rebutted by 
a written agreement authorizing another person 
to maintain the colony or colonies upon the tract 
setting forth the name, address and telephone 
number of the other person who is acting as the 
beekeeper.



Inspection 
The health officer shall have the right to inspect any 

apiary between 8 a.m. and 5 p.m. Where practicable, prior 
notice shall be given to the beekeeper if he resides at the 
apiary or if his name is marked on the hives.

Compliance 
(a) Upon receipt of information that any colony situated 

within the city is not being kept in compliance with 
this article, the director shall initiate an investigation. 
If he finds grounds to believe that one or more 
violations have occurred, he will have a written notice 
of a hearing issued to the beekeeper.

(b) The notice of a hearing shall set forth: 
1.  The date, time and place at which the hearing will 

be conducted. 
2.  The violation(s) alleged. 
3.  That the beekeeper may appear in person or 

through counsel, present evidence, cross-examine 
witnesses and request a court reporter as 
provided by Rule No.  ______ of the city council’s 
rules of procedure. 

4.  That the bees may be ordered destroyed or 
removed from the city if the hearing officer finds 
that they have been kept in violation of this article.

 Notices shall be given by certified U. S. mail or 
personal delivery. If the health officer is unable 
to locate the beekeeper, however, the notice may 
be given by publication one time in a newspaper 
of general circulation at least five days before the 
date of the hearing. 

(c)  The hearing shall be conducted by the director or a 
designated health officer. The burden shall be on the 
city to demonstrate by a preponderance of credible 
evidence that the colony or colonies have in fact been 
kept in violation of this article. If the hearing officer 
finds that the colony or colonies have been kept in 
violation of this article, he may order that the bees be 
destroyed or removed from the city, not to exceed 
20 days and that bees not thereafter be kept upon 
the tract for a period of two years. 

 In instances where the hearing officer finds that 
the violations were not intentional and that the 
beekeeper has taken corrective actions to cure 
the alleged violations, he may issue a warning in 
lieu of ordering the bees destroyed or removed. 
Upon failure of the beekeeper to comply with the 
order, the health officer may cause the bees to be 
destroyed and the hive structures to be removed. In 
each instance in which a bee colony is destroyed, all 
usable components of the hive structure that are not 
damaged or rendered unhealthy by the destruction 
of the bees shall upon the beekeeper’s request 
be returned to the beekeeper, provided that the 
beekeeper agrees to bear all transportation expenses 
for their return. 

(d)  The decision of the hearing officer may be appealed 
in accordance with the provision of Rule No.  of the 
city council’s rules and procedures by filing a notice 
of appeal with the city secretary within 10 days 
following the date that the hearing officer announces 
his decision, or if the decision is not announced at the 
conclusion of the hearing, within 15 days following at 
the date the hearing officer places written notice of 
his decision in the mail to the beekeeper. An appeal 
shall not stay in the hearing officer’s decision, and 
it shall not be the responsibility of the beekeeper 
to remove the bees from the city pending the 
determination of the appeal. 

\(e)  The provisions of this section shall not be 
construed to require the conduct of a hearing for 
the destruction of (1) any bee colony not residing 
in a hive structure intended for beekeeping or (2) 
any swarm of bees or (3) any colony residing in a 
standard or man-made hive, which by virtue of its 
condition, has obviously been abandoned by the 
beekeeper. 

Section 3. If any provisions, section, subsection, 
sentence, clause or phrase of this ordinance or the 
application of same to any person or set of circumstances 
is for any reason held to be unconstitutional, void or 
invalid, the validity of the remaining portions of this 
ordinance or their application to other persons or sets of 
circumstances shall not be affected thereby, it being the 
intent of the city council in adopting this ordinance that 
no portion hereof or provision or regulation contained 
herein shall become inoperative or fail by reason of any 
unconstitutionality, voidness or invalidity of any other 
portion hereof, and all provisions of this ordinance are 
declared to be servable for the purpose. 

Section 4. This ordinance shall become effective at       
__________ (hour) on  ________________ (date). 

Section 5. There exists a public emergency 
requiring that this ordinance be passed finally on the date 
of its introduction as requested in writing by the mayor; 
therefore, this ordinance shall be passed finally on such 
date and shall take effect as provided in Section 4, above.

Passed and approved this __________________ 
day of 20____.

_________________________________________ 
(Mayor)

Author:  Dale K. Pollet, Specialist (Entomology)

Visit out Web site:   www.lsuagcenter.com
Louisiana State University Agricultural Center

William B. Richardson, Chancellor
Louisiana Agricultural Experiment Station
David J. Boethel, Vice Chancellor and Director
Louisiana Cooperative Extension Service

Paul D. Coreil, Vice Chancellor and Director
 Pub. 2524 (online only) 9/09 Rev.

The LSU AgCenter provides equal opportunities in programs and 
employment.



CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS 

 

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

 
Council Meeting Date:   September 22, 2016 
 
Agenda Item: Ordinance Authorizing Series 2016 Bonds and Bond Documents 
 
Subject:   Additional Bonds for ELHC XIV Project (Amazon) 
 

 
 
Summary: 
 

The City issued $38,000,000 in industrial revenue bonds for the ELHC XIV, LLC project in December 2015.  
ELHC XIV used the proceeds of the bonds to construct an approximately 822,500 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution 
facility, to be located at 19400 Montrose Street in Edgerton, Kansas (the “Project”).  ELHC XIV has leased the Project to 
Amazon. 
 
 ELHC XIV has requested that the City issue an additional $25,000,000 in industrial revenue bonds to complete 
the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project. 
 
Ordinance: 
 
 The Ordinance authorizes the City to issue an additional $25,000,000 of industrial revenue bonds for the Project.  
The bonds will be limited obligations of the City.  This means that the City has to make payments on the bonds to ELHC 
XIV as the owner of the bonds only to the extent the City receives payments from ELHC XIV pursuant to the lease.  If 
lease payments from ELHC XIV are insufficient to cover scheduled debt service on the bonds, the City is not obligated to 
make up any shortfall from any other funds of the City.  The bonds are not a general obligation of the City and do not 
count against the City’s debt limit. 
 
The original Indenture allows for the issuance of Additional Bonds.  In order to issue Additional Bonds, the City must 
amend the existing bond documents.  The Ordinance authorizes the City to enter into the following documents: 
 

(a) First Supplemental Trust Indenture; 
(b) First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement; 
(c) First Supplemental Lease Agreement; 
(d) Bond Purchase Agreement whereby ELHC XIV agrees to acquire the Bonds. 

 
This bond issue has no impact on the existing property tax abatement for the Project. 



[Summary Published in The Gardner News on September 28, 2016] 

 

 

 ORDINANCE NO.  1036 

 

 AN ORDINANCE AUTHORIZING THE CITY OF EDGERTON, KANSAS, TO 

ISSUE INDUSTRIAL REVENUE BONDS (ELHC XIV, LLC PROJECT) SERIES 

2016, IN AN AGGREGATE MAXIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT NOT TO 

EXCEED $25,000,000, FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROVIDING FUNDS TO PAY 

THE REMAINING COST OF A WAREHOUSE AND DISTRIBUTION FACILITY, 

INCLUDING LAND, BUILDINGS, STRUCTURES, IMPROVEMENTS, 

FIXTURES, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT; AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO 

ENTER INTO A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL TRUST INDENTURE; AUTHORIZING 

THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL BASE LEASE 

AGREEMENT AND A FIRST SUPPLEMENTAL LEASE AGREEMENT; 

AUTHORIZING THE CITY TO ENTER INTO A BOND PURCHASE 

AGREEMENT, AND AUTHORIZING AND APPROVING THE EXECUTION OF 

CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND THE TAKING OF OTHER ACTIONS IN 

CONNECTION WITH THE ISSUANCE OF THE BONDS. 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Edgerton, Kansas (the “City”), is authorized pursuant to the provisions of 

K.S.A. 12-1740 to 12-1749d, inclusive, as amended (the “Act”), to acquire, purchase, construct, install and 

equip certain commercial and industrial facilities, and to issue industrial revenue bonds for the purpose of 

paying the cost of such facilities, and to lease such facilities to private persons, firms or corporations; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City issued its Industrial Revenue Bonds (ELHC XIV, LLC Project) Series 2015, 

in an aggregate maximum principal amount not to exceed $38,000,000 (the “Series 2015 Bonds”), pursuant 

to a Trust Indenture dated as of December 1, 2015 (the “Original Indenture”), between the City and UMB 

Bank, n.a., as trustee (the “Trustee”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Series 2015 Bonds were issued for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and 

equipping a commercial project, consisting of an approximately 822,500 sq. ft. warehouse and distribution 

facility, to be located at 19400 Montrose Street in Edgerton, Kansas, including land, buildings, structures, 

improvements, fixtures, machinery and equipment (the “Project”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City leased the Project from ELHC XIV, LLC, a Kansas limited liability company 

(the “Company”), pursuant to a Base Lease Agreement dated as of December 1, 2015 (the “Original Base 

Lease”), and the City subleased the Project to the Company pursuant to a Lease Agreement dated as of 

December 1, 2015 (the “Original Lease”); and 

 

 WHEREAS, the Company has requested that the City issue additional bonds under the Original 

Indenture to complete the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City has heretofore and does now find and determine that it 

is desirable in order to promote, stimulate and develop the general economic welfare and prosperity of the 

City and the State of Kansas that the City issue its Industrial Revenue Bonds (ELHC XIV, LLC Project) 

Series 2016, in an aggregate maximum principal amount not to exceed $25,000,000 (the “Series 2016 

Bonds”), for the purpose of completing the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project; and 



2 

 

 

 WHEREAS, the governing body of the City further finds and determines that it is necessary and 

desirable in connection with the issuance of the Series 2016 Bonds that the City enter into certain 

agreements, and that the City take certain other actions and approve the execution of certain other 

documents as herein provided; 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

EDGERTON, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS: 

 

 Section 1. Authorization of and Security for the Series 2016 Bonds.  The City is hereby 

authorized to issue and sell the Series 2016 Bonds for the purpose of providing funds to pay the cost of 

completing the acquisition, construction and equipping of the Project.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall be 

issued and secured pursuant to the herein authorized First Supplemental Indenture and the Original 

Indenture and shall bear such date, shall mature at such time, shall be in such denominations, shall bear 

interest at such rates, shall be in such form, shall be subject to redemption and other terms and conditions, 

and shall be issued in such manner, subject to such provisions, covenants and agreements, as are set forth in 

the Original Indenture and the hereafter defined First Supplemental Indenture.  The Series 2016 Bonds shall 

be issued on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds and shall be payable solely out of the rents, revenues and 

receipts derived by the City from the Project, and the Project and the net earnings derived by the City from 

the Project shall be pledged and assigned to the Trustee as security for payment of the Series 2016 Bonds as 

provided in the Indenture and on a parity with the Series 2015 Bonds. 

 

 Section 2. Authorization of Documents.  The City is hereby authorized to enter into the 

following documents, in substantially the forms presented to and reviewed by the Council of the City 

(copies of which documents, upon execution thereof, shall be filed in the office of the City Clerk), with such 

changes therein as shall be approved by the officers of the City executing such documents, such officers’ 

signatures thereon being conclusive evidence of their approval thereof: 

 

  (a) First Supplemental Trust Indenture dated the date set forth therein (the “First 

Supplemental Indenture”), between the City and the Trustee, which supplements and amends the 

Original Indenture, pursuant to which the Series 2016 Bonds shall be issued; 

 

  (b) First Supplemental Base Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the 

“First Supplemental Base Lease”), between the Company and the City, which supplements and 

amends the Original Base Lease; 

 

  (c) First Supplemental Lease Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “First 

Supplemental Lease”), between the City and the Company, which supplements and amends the 

Original Lease; and 

 

  (d) Series 2016 Bond Purchase Agreement dated the date set forth therein (the “Bond 

Purchase Agreement”), between the City and the Company, as Purchaser. 

 

 Section 3. Execution of Series 2016 Bonds and Documents.  The Mayor of the City is 

hereby authorized and directed to execute the Series 2016 Bonds and to deliver the Series 2016 Bonds to the 

Trustee for authentication for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City in the manner provided in 

the Original Indenture, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture.  The Mayor of the City is 

hereby authorized and directed to execute the First Supplemental Indenture, the First Supplemental Base 

Lease, the First Supplemental Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, and such other documents, certificates 



3 

 

and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the intent of this Ordinance, 

for and on behalf of and as the act and deed of the City.  The City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized and 

directed to attest to and affix the seal of the City to the Series 2016 Bonds, the First Supplemental Indenture, 

the First Supplemental Base Lease, the First Supplemental Lease, the Bond Purchase Agreement, and such 

other documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary. 

 

 Section 4. Further Authority.  The City shall, and the officers, employees and agents of the 

City are hereby authorized and directed to, take such action, expend such funds and execute such other 

documents, certificates and instruments as may be necessary or desirable to carry out and comply with the 

intent of this Ordinance and to carry out, comply with and perform the duties of the City with respect to the 

Series 2016 Bonds, the First Supplemental Indenture, the First Supplemental Base Lease, the First 

Supplemental Lease and the Bond Purchase Agreement. 

 

 Section 5. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall take effect and be in force from and after its 

passage, approval and publication in summary form in the official City newspaper. 

 

 PASSED by the Council of the City of Edgerton, Kansas, this 22
nd

 day of September, 2016. 

 

 

 

       ________________________________________ 

       Donald Roberts, Mayor 

 

[SEAL] 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

Janeice Rawles, City Clerk 

 

 

 

Approved as to form: 

 

 

 

________________________________ 

Scott W. Anderson, Bond Counsel 


	Agenda 09-22-2016
	Minutes 09-08-2016
	Ordinance No. 1035 Beekeeping
	Ordinance No. 1036 ELHC XIV Bonds



